
From port de pêche to ville fortifiée:


The Evolution of Urban Louisbourg, 1713-1758
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For four decades in the eighteenth century France had an overseas colony of significance on Cape Breton Island. That colony was designated Ile Royale, and its principal settlement was a seaport stronghold called Louisbourg. Known in military history as the site of two major sieges (captured by the New Englanders in 1745 and by the British in 1758), Louisbourg has attracted surprisingly little attention in the context of urban history. Yet it was a populous civilian settlement in its own right, with several thousand inhabitants.
 For far too long and by far too many, the settlement at Louisbourg has been regarded as but yet another of the many forts erected by the French in defence of their empire in North America (like Chambly, de Chartres or Carillon). In reality Louisbourg was not a fort. It was a town (smaller than but similar to Québec and Montréal), a town which began as a humble fishing port but which evolved into a European-style fortified town.

When the French came ashore for a formal prise de possession of Louisbourg on 2 September 1713 they had no intention at the time of erecting a major fortress there. The mandate of the settlement party relocating from Placentia (the Newfoundland colony which had been ceded to Great Britain by the terms of the Treaty of Utrecht) was first and foremost to re-establish and safeguard the French cod fishery.

That the fishery figured so prominently in French colonial thinking comes as no great surprise. The overall North Atlantic fishery employed tens of thousands of people and was widely regarded as a "nursery for seamen." Moreover, the cod fishery generated great wealth for France, more than the fur trade of the interior of the North American continent. France was therefore eager to retain its share of the ocean harvest.
 The Minister of the Marine, the Comte de Pontchartrain, instructed the contingent heading for Ile Royale to select the most suitable harbor in the new colony as their principal settlement.
 Military and strategic considerations for the region were not to be disregarded, but they were second to concerns about re-establishing the fishery and creating a port for future trade and commerce.

The harbor selected as the principal settlement for Ile Royale was Louisbourg. In the document formalizing the prise de possession the signators declared that "after having visited all the ports in the said island of Cape Breton ... we believed and decided that we could not make a better choice" than Louisbourg. At the time of its settlement Louisbourg was known as Havre à l'Anglois. The leaders of the 1713 expedition renamed the harbor Port St-Louis, a designation which was later changed in France to Louisbourg.

While the settlement party from Placentia (116 men, 10 women, and 23 children) thought Louisbourg would be France's best choice on Ile Royale, their selection was not definitive. The final decision would come in France, and it would be a decision made by officials within the Ministry of the Marine. Besides Louisbourg, two other harbors on Ile Royale would receive serious consideration: Port Toulouse (St. Peters) and Port Dauphin (Englishtown). Each location had its supporters among the engineers, officers, and officials in the new colony. Some argued on behalf of Louisbourg, citing its excellent harbor and its potential for fishery and commerce. Louisbourg's drawback - which everyone admitted - would be the difficulty and expense of fortifying a place surrounded by rows of low-lying hills. A few preferred Port Toulouse because it too had a good harbor yet would cost much less than Louisbourg to fortify. Moreover, putting Ile Royale's capital at Port Toulouse was thought likely to attract more Acadians from British-held Nova Scotia than any other location. Others wrote enthusiastically about Port Dauphin, describing its arable land, its stands of forest, and the relative ease of making it defensible. One French officer wrote that more could be achieved at Port Dauphin for 10,000 livres than by spending 200,000 at Louisbourg. On the other hand, few fishermen judged Port Dauphin to be a good location for their livelihood: it was too long a sail to the rich fishing banks.

In the end, however, ease of defensibility and pecuniary considerations seemed to make the difference. In 1715, with the Regency period just beginning, the newly-created Conseil de Marine announced its decision: Port Dauphin, not Louisbourg, would be the administrative center of the new colony of Ile Royale.
 Soon, most royal officials and a large contingent of soldiers left Louisbourg for Port Dauphin. The civilian population of Louisbourg dropped from well over 700 in 1715 to between 500 and 600 in 1716.

As it turned out, the Conseil de Marine's preference for Port Dauphin did not last long. By 1717 Louisbourg was once again emerging as the best choice for the capital of Ile Royale. Its population rebounded because it was simply the best choice on the island for fishery and trade. In 1720 Louisbourg's pre-eminent position within the colony was confirmed when officials in France moved the center of royal government back to the town, away from Port Dauphin. Shortly thereafter, work began on the town's fortifications. There were even medals struck in France to commemorate the official founding of Louisbourg in 1720.

Short-lived though Port Dauphin's time was as the capital of Ile Royale, that period did have a definite impact on Louisbourg, particularly with regard to town planning. The 1715 decision not to make Louisbourg the seat of royal administration had meant that construction in the town went on from 1713 in a largely uncontrolled manner. Until 1717, and even afterward, urban development in Louisbourg took place more or less where and how the first residents wanted it. Fishermen and merchants grabbed the prime waterfront land for their fish flakes, wharves, and warehouses. Builders erected whatever structures they wanted, using whatever materials they preferred. A few lots were set aside for military purposes or king's buildings, but the rest of the construction just happened, with no particular concern for street alignments, town blocks, property lines, or building codes (other than the sections dealing with buildings in the Coutume de Paris,
 which applied on Ile Royale as it did elsewhere in New France). In other words, during the first few years of the settlement at Louisbourg, town planning was largely conspicuous by its absence. The place was simply a port de pêche, like others along the Atlantic coast. The initial haphazard location of buildings at Louisbourg is apparent on the early maps and plans of the settlement.

The first person to attempt to give the settlement at Louisbourg the look of a planned town was Jean-François de Verville, the engineer who held responsibility for the construction of fortifications on Ile Royale during the early years of the colony. Acting on orders from France, Verville came up in 1717 with what mounted to a conceptual development scheme for Louisbourg, which was being described as "le poste le plus important" on Ile Royale.
 The engineer drew (or had drawn) a cartographic plan of where the fortifications should go and where the townsite development should be. Though necessarily sketchy on details, and despite the fact that there would be many modifications to the original trace in the years that followed, the 1717 plan basically set the parameters for how Louisbourg was to evolve over the next four decades.

The 1717 plan revealed first of all that the future town of Louisbourg and its defences were going to be concentrated on the peninsula at the southern end of the harbor. The defences, as Verville initially conceived them, were to consist of two full bastions, two half-bastions, and three connecting curtain walls placed on what high ground there was. They would form a classic bastioned trace and close off the landward end of the peninsula.
 As of 1717 there was no indication that the walls would be extended across the tip of the peninsula and then continue along the waterfront to form a completely enclosed enceinte. Those developments would come later.

In dealing with the space inside the proposed walls, Verville's plan offered only an indication of how the urban area might eventually look. He depicted a simple grid pattern for about a third of the intra muros, a grid which showed about a dozen rectangular or square town blocks. The tentative street system was to consist of a broad quay along the waterfront and then a long thoroughfare running east to west, intersected by a half-dozen short streets running north to south. Several of the blocks and a couple of the streets were projected as going through a large pond; Verville was not going to let the symmetry of his proposal be undone by a little water. Similarly, the engineer was not bothered by the existence of standing buildings. His 1717 plan shows proposed streets and block boundary lines going right through existing homes and warehouses. Rather than adapt his plan to the settlement that had evolved, Verville was intent on reshaping the young town according to his vision of what a New World fortified town should be.

It was predictable that Verville would have taken such an approach.
 As a military engineer his over-riding priority was to make Louisbourg defensible and orderly. Everything else came second. If buildings had to be torn down, if property lines had to shifted to fit his imagined layout, then so it would be. A geometrical look to the settlement was considered important to satisfy the dominant aesthetic of the era. Moreover, from the military point of view, straight streets that led directly to gates, bastions, or the place d'armes allowed for the greatest east in moving troops and equipment around in the event of an attack. Verville's initial plan for the layout of Louisbourg virtually pretended that the engineer had an unsettled site with which to deal.

While Verville was producing his trace, the governor and commissaire-ordonnateur of Ile Royale were working to sort out the formal ownership of property in the colony, beginning with Louisbourg. In the fall of 1717 they issued a list of official concessions.
 The document spelled out who owned what as best could be done, given that there were no surveyed lots and the town was not yet laid out in a grid. Instead, references were made to adjacent properties and to the stepped-off distances from the shoreline or some other natural feature.

That same year, 1717, also witnessed the first written restrictions on construction in Louisbourg. The regulations came in the form of ordinances issued either in France or in the colony itself. The earliest ordinances restricted residents on where they could build in relation to the planned fortifications and informed them that they were henceforth to mark their property boundaries. Other regulations quickly followed. By 1723 no fewer than 14 different measures had been issued dealing with a variety of Louisbourg urban questions. Some dealt with very general matters; others with details such as minimum height to which buildings had to be erected and a prohibition on using bark as a roofing material.

One imagines that the residents of Louisbourg might have felt some resentment over the restrictions that were imposed on them beginning in 1717. The freedom of the first few years of the settlement had definitely disappeared. Henceforth all construction would have to follow new rules. Worse still for some homeowners, it seemed from Verville's plans that a good many of them would have to tear down their existing homes and rebuild where the engineer's geometry placed them, on set lots within laid-out blocks.

If Louisbourg's residents were hoping that the initiatives to control the town's development were passing fancies, they were to be disappointed. The move toward planning and symmetry, once begun, was not to be turned aside. Additional regulations and more comprehensive versions of Verville's trace were soon developed. Land that was to serve a particular purpose - be it as a king's building, quay, market, fortification, cemetery, or simply open terrain - was identified. Among the townspeople whose property holdings were thereby called into questions there was predictable confusion, confrontation, and calls for compensation.
 Yet the push for town planning continued. Indeed, so strong was the inclination among some local officials to exercise their power and see the town reorganized that there was even a suggestion from commissaire-ordonnateur Mézy that the inhabitants of the colony be forced to have a house and storehouse within the walls of Louisbourg. All outlying - and thus unprotected - buildings could thus be destroyed. Happily for the hundreds of fishermen of Ile Royale, located around the harbor at Louisbourg and in over a dozen smaller outports on the island, Mézy's recommendation was rejected as impractical by the Conseil de Marine in France.

By the early 1720s Louisbourg's streets, blocks and lots were being defined in considerable detail. On paper - the paper of the maps and plans of the various ingénieurs du roi who served on Ile Royale - Louisbourg was emerging as a fairly symmetrical settlement, complete with more than a dozen intersecting streets and more than forty town blocks.
 In reality, however, there were still many buildings standing here and there, not in any particular alignment one with another. This was particularly true along the waterfront, the area first settled and which remained the commercial heart of the busy port. In 1726 Louisbourg welcomed 39 trading vessels from France and 57 from Canada, the West Indies, and New England. The town's resident civilian population that year stood at 951, with an additional 450 soldiers in the garrison.

While Verville wanted to give order to Louisbourg's urban face, he did not always help his own cause. The engineer continued to tinker with his plans, altering block, lot and street lines. One inhabitant, who chose to remain anonymous, sent a memoir to the Minister of the Marine, complaining bitterly of Verville's ever-changing plans. The inhabitant wrote that "les allignements que M. L'ingenieur a prix et qu'il a change tous les ans, causent un Tort Considerable ... Malgre les concessions qu'ils ont en forme, les Terrains marques par le d. Ingenieur, sur lesquels ils ce sont Batir de Bonne Foy ... ils voyent que par un nouveau plan, tous leurs travaux tombent ...."

Bitterness and frustration over changing plans was certainly understandable. Nonetheless, from Verville's point of view progress was being made. With each passing year more and more old structures were replaced, and the new construction generally took place within the approved grid, with the buildings erected at the front of their lots facing the street. Homeowners who wished to have a yard - for a kitchen garden and perhaps a fenced-in area for a few chickens, pigs and goats - had ample space behind their building. Speaking of animals, as part of the overall tightening up of urban life at Louisbourg, commissaire-ordonnateur Mézy issued an ordinance in June 1724 that forbade the free roaming of pigs through the streets of the town. The cochons were ruining gardens and fish catches, and represented a danger to the growing population of children.

While most Louisbourg builders and homeowners gradually accommodated themselves to the range of controls and town planning measures introduced from 1717 on, there were exceptions. Along the busy waterfront, in front of what Verville designated Blocks 3 and 4, there were clusters of buildings, many of them merchant warehouses, that did not fit into the planned grid. Either by force of argument or through the influence of their owners, these structures continued to stand. Indeed, by 1722 Verville's plans were showing an acceptance of the buildings and their unsymmetrical orientation. The waterfront buildings were not given block numbers, but they did receive formal concessions and became known as the Ile du Quay, Presqu'Ile du Quay, and Place du Port.

Yet another exception to the general trend toward symmetry was provided by prominent Louisbourg resident Joseph Lartigue. Fishing proprietor, merchant, and (as of 1734) judge of the Bailliage, Lartigue occupied land right from the founding of Louisbourg in the area which Verville wanted to become Block 1, a block which was to be reserved for king's buildings. In compensation for terrain given up to the king for the construction of an artillery warehouse in that area, Lartigue was given a triangular wedge of land directly across from Block 1. It became his official concession, one entirely outside the approved grid.

As the 1730s dawned Louisbourg looked much different than it had 17 years earlier at its founding. A 1731 view painted by the engineer Verrier fils reveals both a busy port and a community of solid-looking buildings. Indeed, the town even had a skyline, thanks to the presence of two massive buildings, the King's Bastion barracks and the Hôpital du Roi. Monumental by New World standards - the barracks was the larger of the two at well over 300 feet long and between 44 and 52 feet wide - these two huge king's buildings, with their elegant spires, came to dominate all subsequent painted views of the town.

One should pause at this juncture to compare the overall layout of Louisbourg to that of contemporaneous New Orleans. Setting aside the impact of topography, it is interesting to note that Louisbourg's layout was similar to New Orleans' in that the plans for both communities called for the placement of a church in the center of the streetscape along the waterfront. It turned out in Louisbourg that no such church was ever constructed, but the intention was clearly there on the plans and on the ground, in an emplacement that was forever left for the église paroissiale.

Throughout the 1730s the urban face of Louisbourg continued to evolve. Sustained growth in the economy led to a steady increase in population. There were 1116 civilian residents in 1734 and 1463 in 1737; totals which when added to the garrison (about 550 men at the time) gave the community a population of over 2000.
 Increasingly, much of the construction took place on previously undeveloped lots, away from the waterfront. Meanwhile, in 1734, every property concession in the town was formally measured and recorded for the first time by a professional surveyor (François Vallée). The resulting survey and plan, consisting of 45 numbered blocks plus a few others that were not given an official number, was approved and signed by the king.

While the blocks, lots, and streets were being finalized, so too were the fortifications surrounding them. The original idea of erecting a bastioned trace system only on the landward side was reconsidered. Instead, colonial officials in the Marine offices in France decided to extend the defences across the tip of the peninsula (Pointe à Rochefort), then along the waterfront to link up with the already constructed defences of the Dauphin Demi-Bastion. That meant that the eastern end of Louisbourg, which faced out to sea, would not be developed into the seven town blocks that Verville had envisioned. Rather, the area would become a defensive stronghold, with two new bastions, an elaborate gate, and North America's only loop-holed wall. The re-orientation of that part of the town to a military rather than an urban role necessarily brought about a relocation of the parish and hospital cemeteries in Block 40 (through which the projected fortifications were slated to pass). The burial grounds for the community had already been shifted twice before, and this third move would take the graveyards entirely outside the walls of the town.

Throughout the 1730s and on into the 1740s large sums of money were spent on Louisbourg's fortifications, slowly bringing the enceinte to completion. By the mid-1740s Louisbourg had become a fully enclosed ville fortifiée.
 On the eve of the town's first assault, which came in the spring of 1745, Louisbourg's civilians probably numbered about 2000, its garrison around 700, and its non-resident fishing and mariner population several hundred. During the siege itself - a six-week assault on the town - parts of the community were severely damaged. The French inhabitants were deported to France soon after, and over the next four years of non-French control, the New England and British occupiers repaired what they deemed necessary and constructed what they felt they required (for instance, a new barracks and a brewery). Streets and gates were renamed accordingly (for example, rues Royalle and Toulouse became Dukes and Frederick Streets) but these and other changes did nothing to alter the basic shape of urban Louisbourg.

The war that had led to the conquest of Louisbourg - the War of the Austrian Succession (King George's War) - ended officially in 1748 with the signing of the Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle. One of the clauses of the treaty stipulated that Great Britain return Ile Royale to France. Accordingly, during the summer of 1749 just under 2000 men, women, and children as well as a garrison of more than 1000 men set sail from France for Louisbourg.
 For many of the civilians it was a return to their place of birth, or at least a place they had begun to call home. As the British withdrew, the Louisbourgeois once again took possession of the fortified town. Repairs and modifications commenced at once, beginning a second period of French occupation at Louisbourg, a period that was to last only a decade.

This second period differed little from the first with regard to urban questions. There were more buildings erected, but such construction took place within the existing grid. There were additional local ordinances passed - dealing with topics such as property-owners being threatened to develop their land or else lose it, citizens being compelled to remove the ice in front of their homes, and people being told to remove wood and other debris from along the quay - but none of the regulations were significantly different from those issued during the first period.
 The only aspect of Louisbourg urban life that represented a noteworthy change was an increased concentration of people inside the walls of the town. Where in the 1720s and 1730s between twenty and thirty per cent of Louisbourg's total population (civilian plus military) had lived outside the fortifications - typically on fishing properties that ringed the harbor - that percentage stood at thirteen per cent in 1752. The wholesale destruction of fishing properties during the 1745 siege had led many colonists to seek the security of living inside the walls of the town when the reoccupation of Louisbourg began. For the same basic reason - a feeling of vulnerability - there were also dramatic reductions in the population of Ile Royale's many fishing outports during the 1750s.
 At Louisbourg, however, rightly or wrongly, the citizens seemed to feel relatively safe, living as they did both in proximity to a large garrison (increased to about 2100 in 1755, and to about 3500 in 1758) and behind the European-style fortifications of the town.

The outer works of Louisbourg's defences were modified somewhat during the 1750s, but not to the degree proposed by the colony's latest engineer, Louis Franquet. Where Franquet proposed the construction of elaborate redoubts and other features beyond the enceinte of the place, the Ministry of the Marine could find only enough money to authorize modest earthworks.
 So when a second assault on Louisbourg came during the summer of 1758, the ville fortifiée looked much as it had at the time of the first siege (except that its garrison was now five times larger). A combined army and naval force of 27,000 British blockaded, besieged, and bombarded Louisbourg for seven weeks. Once again the French colonial town capitulated, and once again its inhabitants were deported to France.

The 1758 capture of Louisbourg meant the end of French regime on Cape Breton. It also led ultimately to the disappearance of the walled town itself. A British occupying force took over the town and garrisoned it for another ten years, until 1768. With each passing year following Louisbourg's conquest, however, the town looked less and less like the one the French had built and lived in for over four decades. First there was the unrepaired destruction from the 1758 siege. Then in 1760, acting on the orders of Prime Minister William Pitt, the British blew up the walls surrounding the settlement. Two years later fire swept through part of the town and more than a dozen buildings were pulled down to contain the flames. The final blow was the British garrison's withdrawal in 1768. More than half of the 500 inhabitants living in Louisbourg the year before departed when the soldiers left. The once significant ville fortifiée had become, in the words of the new British Governor of Nova Scotia, Lord William Campbell, a "decayed city ... going to ruin." The town that according to one historian had begun "a présenter un aspect de cité forte et offrait quelque resemblance avec la ville de Saint-Malo" was no more.

The years that followed saw Louisbourg evolve as a place of scattered houses, grazing animals, and ruins. Much of the brick, stone and lumber of the French period was taken and reused elsewhere. By 1770 Louisbourg was not an urban area at all. Much as it had started out, it was again a port de pêche, though this time it was a port of scattered families of English and Irish descent. Unfortunately for them, and in contrast to their 18th-century French predecessors, there was no likelihood this time that an imperial power would be prepared to make their harbor settlement an administrative center or a strategic stronghold. Within the context of the now British colony of Nova Scotia that role now belonged to Halifax, founded in 1749 as a counterbalance to Louisbourg. 
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